18145-2

685457

NO. 68545-7-1 COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

Bank of America NA, as successor by merger to Lasalle Bank NA, as trustee to Wamu Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 2006 AR11 Trust, Respondent

v.

Christopher L. Short et al., Appellant

Appellant's Opening Brief

Christopher L. Short, Pro se P.O. Box 1080 Republic, Washington 99166 (509) 775-2521 STACK 511 2: 08

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The trial court erred in granting summary judgment in a judicial foreclosure action without evidence requisite to support a finding that Trust is the holder of a promissory note secured by a deed of trust executed by Mr. Short.

/

¹ Plaintiff's attorney's have referred to Plaintiff, and will probably continue to refer to Plaintiff as "Bank of America". This is a misleading and inaccurate reference. Bank of America is not the trustee of the Trust and is not the plaintiff.

² All documents filed by plaintiff subsequent to the summons and complaint have an additional party, JP Morgan Chase Bank NA in the caption header. This addition is done without notification to Mr. Short or leave of the court. Mr. Short has objected to this corruption of the caption header and contends all documents filed in this format should have been rejected by the trial court for filing.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

1. Summary Judgment

- 1.1 Did the trial court err when it allowed into evidence and consideration by the court photocopies of a promissory note executed by Mr. Short which were attached to Trust's complaint {CP 310-315} motion for summary judgment and declaration of Ms. Urquiti {CP 116} that were partial, incomplete, not sworn, not certified and not original in contradiction to WCCR 54(c) RCW 56(e) and ER 1002?
- 1.2 Did the trial court err when it allowed into evidence and consideration by the court the declaration of Ms. Urquiti {CP 111 } who did not have personal knowledge of the matters testified to in contradiction to CR 56(e)?
- 1.3 Did the trial court err when it allowed into evidence and consideration by the court the declaration of Ms. Urquiti {CP 111} who did not show affirmatively that they were competent to testify to the matters in contradiction to CR 56(e)?
- 1.4 Did the trial court err when it allowed into evidence and consideration by the court the declaration Ms. Urquiti {CP 111} in support of summary judgment which referred to papers but did not have attached to it or serve

- therewith sworn or certified copies of referred to papers in contradiction to CR 56(e)?
- 1.5 Did the trial court err when it allowed into evidence and consideration by the court two mutually exclusive sets of alleged material facts regarding the chain of title of a promissory note secured by a deed of trust executed by Mr. Short. Material facts upon which all Trust's claim to being holder of a promissory note secured by a deed of trust by of chain of title hinge?
- 1.6 Did the trial court err when it allowed into evidence and consideration by the court declarations of Ms. Urquiti {CP 111} that were corrupt as to format and form?
- 1.7 Did the trial court err when it made a finding at the hearing on Trust's motion for summary judgment {VP 02/03/2012} that Trust was not suing on the promissory note and therefore not required to comply with the rules of evidence regarding a promissory note in particular WCCR 54(c)?
- 1.8 Did the trial court err when it made a finding that an assignment of a deed of trust {CP 343-344} securing a promissory note executed by Mr. Short was validly assigned to Trust?

1

1

INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal from a summary judgment entered in the Whatcom County Superior Court. The cause of action, default on the payment of a promissory note that is secured by a deed of trust, a foreclosure action.

The statutory remedy of a non-judicial trustee's sale under RCW 61.24 was not available in this case because the real property was designated agricultural land. An injured party is specifically barred from using a non-judicial trustee sale as a remedy if the real property is designated agricultural land and fails to meet the requisites to a trustee's sale per RCW 61.24.030(2).

The essential elements of judicial and non-judicial foreclosure do not differ. The essential elements are:

- 1. A holder of a promissory note.
- A default in payment(s) by the maker of the promissory note to the holder;
- A deed of trust that secures the promissory note that has been made or validly assigned to the holder of the promissory note.

¹ The holder is defined by RCW 61.24.005(2) as "Beneficiary" and is the exclusive party entitled to foreclose on the obligation secured by the deed of trust. The holder further is the injured party, the party with "standing to sue", the "real party of interest, and the party with the right to enforce on a note per RCW 62A.3.301. The holder is the only party that has a sufficient stake in an otherwise justiciable controversy to obtain judicial resolution of that controversy.

In a non-judicial trustee's sale proceeding the owner of the promissory note must certify to the trustee that they are the owner of the note i.e. that they have possession of the promissory note per RCW 61.24.030 (7)(a).

In a judicial foreclosure proceeding the holder of the promissory note must prove to the court that they are the holder of the promissory note i.e. that they have possession of the promissory note.

The holder of a promissory note as designated by RCW 62A.1-201(21) is the person in possession of the promissory note.

To prove one is the holder/person in possession of a promissory note in a judicial proceeding one simply needs to file the original promissory note with the court. A promissory note is a negotiable instrument as defined by RCW 62A.3-104 and Local Rule WCCR 54(c) succinctly addresses this filing requirement.

WCCR 54(c)

No judgment shall be taken upon a negotiable instrument until the original instrument has been filed.

No original promissory note has been filed with the court in this case.

The trial court Judge made statements in a dialogue with Mr. Short at the summary judgment hearing that may be useful to this court in identifying and understanding the origin of the trial court's primary error of not requiring Trust to provide evidence that they are the holder of a promissory note executed by Mr. Short.

The honorable Judge Mura was presiding at the hearing.

The following is the verbatim exchange that took place per the {VP 02/03/2012, page 10, line 11 - page 12, line 5}:

THE COURT: Yeah. So they're not suing on the note, sir.

They're just suing to realize on the security for the note.

MR. SHORT: My----my reading of the local court rule
WCCR 54(c) is that because it's their paper, they're ---- they're
required to provide a live copy of that to the----to the Court, which I
don't believe they've done.

THE COURT: If they're suing on the note, you're correct.

They're not suing on the note. They're not seeking a judgment against you personally. They're seeking to foreclose on the security which secures the note. There's not a judgment against you personally.

MR. SHORT: They're seeking attorney's fees and what's to keep a subsequent party from suing on the basis of the note if they don't possess it?

THE COURT: Well, they're not suing on the note. If somebody tries to sue you on the note later, then you can raise whatever defenses you have. The deed of trust provides for the authority for them to get attorney's fees, the deed of trust does. They're not suing on the note.

Judge Mura's repeated statement "They're not suing on the note", and the statements "they're not seeking a judgment against you personally" and "There's not a judgment against you personally", indicates that the trial court judge had confusion about the essential elements requisite to properly adjudicate the action before him.

For Trust had in their complaint specifically requested at their prayer for relief {CP 307, line 1-19 items 1-3}, for judgment against the borrower on the note and if Mr. Short failed to pay the judgment forthwith, Trust could foreclose on the security for the promissory note.

The ancillary issues addressed in the remainder of this brief, although valid and consequential, are moot if this court agrees with the assessment that the trial court's sense of knowledge was not sufficient to comprehend the nature of the issues presented.

Appellant moves the court to take this opportunity and make a determination on this primary issue and immediately remand this case back to the trial court with instructions.

/

/

/

/

/

1

STATEMENT OF CASE

Trust filed suit in the Superior Court of the State of Washington in and for Whatcom County on April 28, 2010 against Mr. Short claiming they were the current holder of a promissory note secured by a deed of trust executed by Mr. Short in favor of Washington Mutual Bank FA.

Trust further alleged that payment on the promissory note was delinquent and that they were the assignee of a deed of trust securing said promissory note. Trust asserted that as current holder of the promissory note that they had a right to foreclose under the deed of trust. {CP 303}

Mr. Short answered Trust's complaint and initiated discovery to determine the truth and authenticity of Trust's claim. Trust ignored Mr. Short's discovery request and instead filed a motion for summary judgment. Mr. Short moved the trial court to compel Trust to comply with the rules of discovery. Trust was compelled by order of the court to comply with discovery and Trust's initial motion for summary judgment was stricken from calendar.

Trust responded to Mr. Short's first set of discovery requests and filed a second motion for summary judgment with a ¹new witness, Ms.

Urquiti who made a supporting declaration. {CP 111}

Mr. Short requested that Trust make available the new witness,

Ms. Urquiti for examination. Trust ignored Mr. Short's request.

Mr. Short instead of again compelling discovery decided to respond to Trust's motion for summary judgment, Mr. Short argued:

- That there were several issues of material fact in dispute in particular the chain of title alleged in the Trust's complaint is contradicted by Trust's responses to discovery, two mutually exclusive scenarios are presented;
- Trust was not the holder of the promissory note;
- Trust's witnesses were not competent or credible;
- Trust's witness' declarations were not in compliance with RCW
 9A.72.85 or the court rules and should be stricken as inadmissible;
- That documentary evidence was not submitted as required by court rules and/or the rules of evidence i.e. sworn or certified papers,
 except where exempted by rule e.g. public records.

¹ As has been noted elsewhere herein Trust's then attorney Mr. Albert Lin was Trust's original declarant in support of motion for summary judgment. Mr. Lin tacitly withdrew his declaration after being challenged by Mr. Short regarding its truthfulness.

 That the deed of trust was improperly assigned and it's execution highly irregular.

The court ruled that there were no issues of material fact in dispute.

Mr. Short made a Motion for Reconsideration. The court denied said motion.

Mr. Short filed this appeal.

Trust presented a Judgment of Foreclosure. The Judge signed the Judgment of Foreclosure over the objections of Mr. Short.

Mr. Short moved the court to vacate summary judgment based on a letter from Bank of America requesting that they be removed from the suit. The court denied said motion.

/ / /

PROMISSORY NOTE

In the State of Washington RCW 62A, the state's adaptation of the UCC, defines, instructs and governs the use and function of instruments used in commerce, such as promissory notes.

RCW 62A.3.104 classifies a promissory note as a negotiable instrument.

RCW 62A.3-104 Negotiable Instrument

- (a) Except as provided in subsections (c) and (d), "negotiable instrument" means an unconditional promise or order to pay a fixed amount of money, with or without interest or other charges described in the promise or order, if it:
- (1) Is payable to bearer or to order at the time it is issued or first comes into possession of a holder;
 - (2) Is payable on demand or at a definite time; and
- (3) Does not state any other undertaking or instruction by the person promising or ordering payment to do any act in addition to the payment of money, but the promise or order may contain (i) an undertaking or power to give, maintain, or protect collateral to secure payment, (ii) an authorization or power to the holder to confess judgment or realize on or dispose of collateral, or (iii) a waiver of the benefit of any law intended for the advantage or protection of an obligor.
 - (b) "Instrument" means a negotiable instrument.

The court was tasked with determining if the claimant, Trust is the holder of a promissory note, which is defined by the foregoing statute as a negotiable instrument. A holder of a negotiable instrument, in this case a promissory note, is defined at RCW 62A.1-201(21).

RCW62A-201(21)

- (21) "Holder" with respect to a negotiable instrument, means:
- (A) The <u>person in possession</u> of a negotiable instrument that is payable either to bearer or to an identified person that is the <u>person in possession</u>;
- (B) The person in possession of a negotiable tangible document of title if the goods are deliverable either to bearer or to the order of the person in possession; or
- (C) The person in control of a negotiable electronic document of title.

Negotiable instruments are negotiated in accordance RCW 62A.3-201.

(a) Negotiation means a transfer of possession, whether voluntary or involuntary, of an instrument by a person other than the issuer who thereby becomes the holder.

When a holder of a negotiable instrument, in this case a promissory note, files a ¹claim in the Washington State Superior court requesting the court grant them a judgment they are in essence negotiating the promissory note in exchange for a judgment of the court. A judgment has commercial value, judgments are bought and sold in the marketplace, and therefore a promissory note and a judgment are fungible.

The person entitled to enforce an instrument

Person entitled to enforce" an instrument means (i) the holder of the instrument, (ii) a nonholder in possession of the instrument who has the rights of a holder, or (iii) a person not in possession of the instrument who is entitled to enforce the instrument pursuant to RCW 62A.3-309 or 62A.3-418(d). A person may be a person entitled to enforce the instrument even though the person is not the owner of the instrument or is in wrongful possession of the instrument.

¹ RCW 62A.3-301

²It leads to an absurdity when one contemplates the idea that the holder of a promissory note should be granted both a judgment of the Superior Court and the right to retain possession of the promissory note on which that judgment is based.

WCCR 54(c) appears to contemplate this;

No judgment shall be taken upon a negotiable instrument until the original instrument has been filed.

No original promissory note has been filed with the court, therefore no judgment can be granted. Trust counters that they have a witness {CP 115, line 8, item 16} who has testified that she has personal knowledge that an original promissory note executed by Mr. Short is in secure warehouse in Monroe, LA., that this secure warehouse is under the control or ownership of Chase.

If this were true, a question every reasonable person would have to ask is, why would Trust not order Chase to put the promissory note in a secure envelope and send it via a secure currier to the Whatcom County Superior Court.

² Mr. Short posited this situation to the trial court judge at the hearing on summary judgment. The verbatim exchange per {VP 02/03/2012 pg 10 line 23-pg11 line 5}

MR. SHORT: They're seeking attorney's fees and what's to keep a subsequent party from suing on the basis of the note if they don't possess it?

THE COURT: Well, they're not suing on the note. If somebody tries is

THE COURT: Well, they're not suing on the note. If somebody tries to sue you on the note later, then you can raise whatever defenses you have. The deed of trust provides for the authority for them to get attorney's fees, the deed of trust does. They're not suing on the note.

If Trust is actually the holder of a promissory note executed by Mr. Short, Trust has no legitimate reason or purpose to maintain possession.

The trial court erred when it allowed Trust to ignore the requirements of WCCR 54(c), RCW 56(e) and ER 1002 and allowed into evidence and consideration by the court facsimiles, speculation and testimony not carrying the quality of proof or having the fitness to induce a finding of no material facts in dispute.

/

/

COMPETENT WITNESS

Trust has submitted declarations by two witnesses in support of two motions for summary judgment. The first declaration submitted by then attorney for Trust, Mr. Albert Lin {CP 299} has apparently been tacitly withdrawn. This occurred after it was pointed out to Mr. Lin that many of the statements contained in his declaration appeared flagrantly false. Therefore, only the competency of the new witness Araceli Urquidi, who provided ¹declarations {CP 111} for Trust's second motion for summary judgment, will be addressed.

Affidavits/Declarations submitted in support of a motion for summary judgment must conform to CR 56(e) and by reference ER 602. CR 56

(e) Form of Affidavits; Further Testimony; Defense Required. Supporting and opposing affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein. Sworn or certified copies of all papers or parts thereof referred to in an affidavit shall be attached thereto or served therewith...

¹ Ms. Urquiti and Mr. Lin's first declarations in support of Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment did not conform to the requirements of RCW 9A.72.85. Both were sworn under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America as well as other objectionable non-conformities. After Mr. Short objected, Ms. Urquiti submitted a second declaration, which addressed conformity to RCW 9A.72.85 by being sworn under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Washington but neglected other objectionable issues raised by Mr. Short. Mr. Short maintains his objections to Ms. Urquiti's declaration on multiple grounds.

Washington Rules of evidence Rule 602 states:

LACK OF PERSONAL KNOWLDGE

A witness may not testify to a matter unless evidence is introduced sufficient to support a finding that the witness has **personal knowledge of the matter**. Evidence to prove personal knowledge may, but need not, consist of the witness' own testimony. This rule is subject to the provisions of rule 703, relating to opinion testimony by expert witnesses.

The witness/declarant states at item 1 of her declaration:

"....As to the following facts, I know them to be true of my own personal knowledge..." {CP 111}

If this statement were true her declaration would comply with the requirement of CR 56(e) and ER 602, but CR 56(e) and ER 602 require more than the mere statement, they require some proof:

- (affiant) shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein; (CR 56(e))
- A witness may not testify to a matter unless evidence is introduced sufficient to support a finding that the witness has personal knowledge of the matter. (ER 602).

No evidence has been submitted to the court, nor is there any testimony from the witness herself describing how she came to have personal knowledge of the facts for and about which she has provided testimony.

Examples of documentary evidence the witness may have provided that may have been sufficient to support a finding the witness has personal knowledge of the facts of the matter:

- Pay stubs
- w-2 forms
- · letters of employment
- · letter of agency
- · Washington State licensing data base search
- · ledgers or other business records

Examples of testimony the witness may have provided that may have been sufficient to support a finding the witness has personal knowledge of the facts of the matter:

•	I have been employed by ABC since				
•	On or about	I was in Monroe, LA at Chase's secure			
	warehouse				
•	On or about	I examined Mr. Short's original			
	promissory note				

An examination of Ms. Urquiti's declarations {CP 111} will reveal no such documents and no such testimony.

Declarant, Ms. Urquiti introduces herself as a duly authorized agent and signor for Bank of America, NA as successor by merger to Lasalle Bank NA, as Trustee to WaMu Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 2006 AR11 Trust, and its servicing agent JP Morgan Chase Bank, NA {CP 111}.

No letter of agency has been submitted nor any proof she has authority to sign for any of the parties mentioned.

Declarant, Ms. Urquiti signs her declaration in Chatworth, California and inserts above the title line "HL Sr. Research Specialist".

No definition for that title is offered, nor who conferred such designation.

The trial court erred when it allowed into evidence and consideration by the court the declaration of a witness who did not have personal knowledge of the matters testified to in contradiction to CR 56(e).

The trial court erred when it allowed into evidence and consideration by the court the declaration of a witness who did not show affirmatively that they were competent to testify to the matters in contradiction to CR 56(e).

A further examination of Ms. Urquiti's declarations will reveal corruption of the caption header where a party, JP Morgan Chase Bank

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