··· 108141-7

618417

No. 68545-7-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BANK OF AMERICA, NA as successor by merger to LASALLE BANK NA, as trustee to WaMu Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 2006-AR11 Trust, Plaintiff / Respondent

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

3. The Note Holder may Foreclose by Agents.

As a matter of pure contract, appellant is wrong that *only* the entity that actually holds the Note may prosecute a foreclosure action and must do so in its *own* name. (*See*, Appellant's Brief, p. 4, n. 1 ("The holder is the only party that has a sufficient stake in an otherwise justiciable controversy to obtain judicial resolution of that controversy."); *id.*, p. 10 ("[The] Trust was not the holder of the promissory note"); *id.*, p. 11 ("[T]he deed of trust was improperly assigned").)

The Deed of Trust Act specifically allows the beneficiary *or* its "authorized agent" to commence foreclosure. *See*, *e.g.*, RCW 61.24.031(1)(a)-(c) and (2). In addition, the Washington Supreme Court recently held with regard to a foreclosure challenge similar to Mr. Short's that, "nothing in this opinion should be construed to suggest an agent cannot represent the holder of a note." *Bain*, *supra*, 175 Wn.2d at 106.

Accordingly, foreclosure litigation may be pursued by a loan servicing agent that possesses the note and is empowered to act on behalf of

the loan owner – precisely the circumstances that exist here. A recent federal opinion succinctly summarizes the analysis defeating Mr. Short's arguments:

[The borrower's] claims arise from a fundamental misunderstanding of the law. U. S. Bank is the beneficiary of the deed [of trust] because it holds Plaintiff's note, not because MERS assigned it the deed [of trust]. Under Washington law, a beneficiary is by definition the party holding the note: This rule, however, is merely the codification of the longstanding principle that "the deed follows the debt." ... The Washington Supreme Court reiterated this principle in Bain ..., stating "Washington's deed of trust act contemplates that the security instrument will follow the note, not the other way around." In sum, possession of the note makes U.S. Bank the beneficiary; the assignment merely publicly records Because U. S. Bank is the proper beneficiary, it is empowered to initiate foreclosure following Plaintiff's default.

...

Lastly, Plaintiff argues that Chase improperly issued foreclosure notices because it has "no recorded interest" in the property. But, it is abundantly clear that Chase was acting as an agent for U. S. Bank, the proper beneficiary. The Washington Deed of Trust Act expressly authorizes the use of agents. ... Chase thus acted properly as an agent for U. S. Bank.

Lynott v. Mtg. Elec. Reg. Sys., Inc., et al, Slip Op., No. 3:12-cv-05572-RBL. (W.D.Wash. Nov. 30, 2012) (original bold emphasis; italicized emphasis supplied).

Similarly here, the *only* evidence before the trial court was that Chase was in possession of the Note, holding the instrument at Chase's secure

warehouse. (CP 115, ¶16; CP 249-250.) There was also uncontroverted evidence that Chase is the servicing agent for the Note owner, empowered and authorized to act on its behalf in instituting foreclosure proceedings. (CP 113-115, ¶14; CP 245-247.) Although given the opportunity to do so, Mr. Short *never* disputed that information by providing controverting evidence.

Accordingly, the trial court did not err in awarding summary judgment of foreclosure on the basis of Plaintiff's supporting evidence, and without the original Note being filed.

D. The Trial Court did Not Err by Considering Evidence within the Two Declarations of Araceli Urquidi.

1. Admission of Summary Judgment Evidence is Reviewed Under Abuse of Discretion Standard.

The balance of Mr. Short's asserted errors are challenges to the admissibility and weight of the Urquidi Original Declaration and Urquidi Reply Declaration. Trial court rulings on admissibility of evidence are generally reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *Brouillet v. Cowles Pub'g. Co.*, 114 Wn.2d 788, 801, 791 P.2d 526 (1990); *McKee v. American Home Prods.*, 113 Wn.2d 701, 706, 782 P.2d 1045 (1989). A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds. *In re Marriage of Kovacs*,

121 Wn.2d 795, 801, 854 P.2d 629 (1993); Havens v. C & D Plastics, Inc., 124 Wn.2d 158, 168, 876 P.2d 435, 441 (1994).

A party may object to an affidavit filed in support of a motion for summary judgment if it sets forth facts that would not be admissible in evidence. Smith v. Showalter, 47 Wn.App. 245, 248, 734 P.2d 928 (1987) (citing, State v. The (1972) Dan Evans Campaign Comm., 86 Wn.2d 503, 506, 546 P.2d 85 (1976)). If a party fails to object or bring a motion to strike deficiencies in affidavits or other documents in support of a motion for summary judgment, as occurred here, the party waives any defects. Smith, 47 Wn.App. at 248 (citing, Lamon v. McDonnell Douglas, Co., 91 Wn.2d 345, 352, 588 P.2d 1346 (1979); Greer v. Nw. Nat'l. Ins. Co., 36 Wn.App. 330, 338, 674 P.2d 1257 (1984)).

2. If this Court Entertains the Waived Evidentiary Objections, It Should Still Affirm in the Absence of Controverting Facts.

Mr. Short objected to Ms. Urquidi's Declarations on several grounds. Mr. Short did not move to strike any portion of either the Urquidi Original Declaration or Reply Declaration.

Mr. Short's arguments are no substitute for countervailing proof.

Although the trial court did not expressly rule on Mr. Short's evidentiary objections, it implicitly overruled them. The court specifically noted that Mr. Short offered *no* controverting evidence on the material issues:

THE COURT: ... [M]y recollection of reviewing the documents at the time of the summary judgment the court was satisfied that [Plaintiff] had submitted sufficient materials and there wasn't any competent evidence that was submitted, other than by way of argument from [Defendant], that allowed me to do anything but enter that judgment.

(RP 03/02/12, p. 6, ll. 10-16 (emphasis supplied).)

a. The Declarations were adequately founded.

Each of Ms. Urquidi's Declarations contained at least three paragraphs concerning the foundation of her personal knowledge to testify. (CP 111-112, ¶¶1-3; CP 256-257, ¶¶1-3.) They described the fact that she had personal knowledge, and was an authorized agent and signatory for both the named Plaintiff, BOA, and its servicing agent, Chase. (CP 111, ¶¶1-2; CP 256, ¶¶1-2.)

Both Declarations stated that Ms. Urquidi was duly authorized and empowered to provide each specific Declarations that she made. (CP 111, ¶2; CP 256, ¶2.) Both also provided the background of Ms. Urquidi's knowledge as to the manner in which loan records are obtained, prepared, and maintained. (CP 112, ¶3; CP 257, ¶3.) Ms. Urquidi specifically stated that she personally reviewed Mr. Short's loan records in preparation for making her Declarations. (CP 112, ¶3; CP 257, ¶3.)

Similar foundation and Declarations of Chase's HL Senior Research Specialists – the same job title as Ms. Urquidi's (CP 115; CP 259) – have been found sufficient to carry a party's evidentiary burden. See, e.g., Agin v. Mtg. Elec. Reg. Sys., Inc., et al (In Re Bower), 462 B.R. 347, 349, n. 6 (Bankr. E.D.Mass. 2012) ("According to the Declaration of Shari Middlebrooks, the HL Senior Research Specialist with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., '[o]n or about June 30, 2006, the Bank entered into a Pooling and Servicing Agreement ("PSA"") whereby it became the trustee for the certificateholders of Structured Asset Mortgage Investments II Trust 2006–AR4 Mortgage Pass–Through Certificate Series 2006–AR4 ("Trust"). The mortgage and note of the ... Loan was conveyed and assigned to the Bank as trustee under the terms of the PSA as of the closing date of the Trust.") (emphasis supplied); Knopp v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, 2012 WL 4056785 (E.D.Cal. Sept. 14, 2012) at *4 ("Finally, the declaration of one of Chase's HL Senior Research Specialist, Roberto Silva, states that Chase acquired its interest in the subject loan through the [Agreement]. ... Silva also declares that Chase holds the original note in its possession at a designated confidential location and that Chase is the designated beneficiary under the deed of trust.") (emphasis supplied).

Accordingly, the trial court did not err in implicitly overruling foundation objections to Ms. Urquidi's Declarations.

b. The exhibits were appropriately authenticated, and judicially noticeable.

Mr. Short objected to the Urquidi Declarations because they were not supported by attachment of sworn or certified documents under CR 56(e). (CP 100-102.) Appellant reads too much into the "sworn or certified copy" requirement of CR 56(e). As to each of the four identical exhibits attached to each of her two Declarations, Ms. Urquidi *swore* that they were true and correct copies of the original documents. (CP 112-113, ¶¶6-10; CP 257-258, ¶¶6-10.) Accordingly, the CR56(e) requisite of providing the trial court with sworn documents was satisfied.

Further, even was the exhibit authentication insufficient – which Plaintiff expressly disputes – three of the documents, the Deed of Trust, WaMu Affidavit, and Chase Assignment, were recorded public records and thus are judicially noticeable under ER 201(b)(2) (authorizing the trial court to take judicial notice of a fact that is "not subject to reasonable dispute in that it is capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned"). *Rodriguez v. Loudeye Corp.*, 144 Wn.App. 709, 725-26, 189 P.3d 168 (2008).

In addition, contrary to Mr. Short's claim, a declarant's personal knowledge of averments is not necessarily required. "Authentication is a

⁷ Further no "assignment" of the Note – as demanded by Appellant – exists. See, n. 6, supra.

threshold requirement designed to assure that evidence is what it purports to be." State v. Payne, 117 Wn.App. 99, 106, 69 P.3d 889 (2003). "CR 56(e) allows an [affidavit] to [be] base[d] on documents properly before the court. And this includes documents already in the court files, as well as additional documents presented by the parties in a motion for summary judgment." Int'l. Ultimate, Inc. v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 122 Wn.App. 736, 745, 87 P.3d 774 (2004). CR 56(e)'s "requirement of authentication or identification is met if the proponent shows proof sufficient for a reasonable fact finder to find in favor of authenticity." Id., at 746; ER 901(a) (authentication requirement "is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its If the challenged documents "are properly proponent claims."). authenticated [under ER 901 or 902] and are not excluded because of hearsay, then [a party] may rely on them in a summary judgment motion regardless of any lack of personal knowledge." Int'l. Ultimate, supra, at 746.

The trial court committed no error in considering the exhibits to Ms. Urquidi's Declarations.

c. The Note was appropriately authenticated, and has not been disputed.

As to the fourth exhibit, the Note, Mr. Short's objections are similarly unavailing. First, foundation was laid for Ms. Urquidi's knowledge of the loan documents, and the Note is obviously one such document. (CP 112, ¶3; CP 257, ¶3.) Second, Ms. Urquidi provided sworn testimony as to the location of the original Note. (CP 258, ¶13.) Third, the whereabouts of the original Note was also established in Plaintiff's discovery responses. (CP 249-250.) And finally, although having multiple opportunities to do so, Mr. Short never once questioned the authenticity of the Note, copies of which were attached to and authenticated by the Complaint and two supporting Declarations. (CP 112, ¶6; CP 116-122; CP 257, ¶6; CP 260-266; CP 304, ¶4; CP 309-315.)

. . .

Accordingly, there is no true issue of fact that Chase, as Plaintiff's authorized agent, possessed Mr. Short's original Note.

E. <u>If the Trial Court Erred by Considering the Two Urquidi</u> <u>Declarations, the Error was Harmless.</u>

For all the reasons stated above, the trial court did not err in considering the two Declarations of Araceli Urquidi and their attachments. Even should overruling Mr. Short's evidentiary objections be found an abuse of the trial court's discretion, however, such error was harmless.

The last three paragraphs of the Urquidi Reply Declaration (CP 113-115, ¶14-16) were virtually identical to Plaintiff's written discovery

responses (CP 245-250). Under CR 56(e), "[t]he court may permit affidavits to be supplemented ... by ... answers to interrogatories." Mr. Short himself placed BOA's discovery responses into evidence in connection with the summary judgment hearing. (CP 238, ¶4; CP 245-250.) Consequently if the trial court erred in overruling the objections to the two Urquidi Declarations, the error was harmless, as the identical uncontroverted facts were already in the summary judgment record.

٠ , .

Mr. Short also claims error because, "BOA submitted no document evidencing a payment default." (CP 105.) But both of Ms. Urquidi's Declarations swore to that default. (CP 113, ¶11; CP 258; ¶11.) No further documentation was necessary to prove it. In addition, Mr. Short himself admitted that, "my arguments were never about whether the money was owed" (RP 03/02/12, p. 5, 1l. 5-6), thereby acknowledging his default in the payment terms. Consequently, any claimed error in admitting Ms. Urquidi's Declarations of default were cured by Mr. Short's admission.

- F. Entry of Judgment in BOA's Name in Its Representative Capacity as Trustee is Not Reversible Error Where the Beneficiary of Record Remains the Trust, as Represented by BOA.
 - A Determination of Substitution Due to a Transfer of Interest is Reviewed Under the Abuse of Discretion Standard.

Decisions regarding application of the Civil Rules are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. See, e.g., Ino Ino, Inc. v. City of Bellevue, 132 Wn.2d 103, 142, 937 P.2d 154 (1997), cert. den'd., 522 U.S. 1077, 118 S.Ct. 856, 139 L.Ed.2d 755 (1998). Specifically, trial court orders involving the application of CR 17(a)'s requirement that every action be prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest are reviewed for abuse of discretion (Sprague v. Sysco Corp., 97 Wn.App. 169, 171, 982 P.2d 1202 (1999)), as are determinations whether to substitute parties under CR 25(c) due to a transfer of interest. Nw. Land & Inv., Inc. v. New W. Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n., 64 Wn.App. 938, 946, 827 P.2d 334, 339 (1992).

2. CR 25(c) Allows Continued Prosecution of Suit by the Named Plaintiff After Its Interest is Transferred, as Occurred Here.

CR 25(c) provides:

. .

In case of any transfer of interest, the action may be continued by or against the original party unless the court upon motion directs the person to whom the interest is transferred to be substituted in the action or joined with the original party. Service of the motion shall be made as provided in section (a) of this rule.

CR 25(c) (emphasis supplied). Thus, as long as the plaintiff had an interest in the action when suit was filed, even if that interest is subsequently transferred, the action may continue by the named Plaintiff, unless a motion seeking substitution is granted.

Here, BOA was the Trustee of the WaMu Trust at the time this suit was filed in April of 2010. (CP 114, ¶14; CP 246.) Mr. Short's loan was part of the securitized WaMuTrust. Accordingly, the WaMu Trust owned the loan, and was the real party in interest in seeking foreclosure through the servicing agent for the trust, Chase. (CP 113-115, ¶14; CP 246.)

٠ ,

Several months after suit was filed, USBank became Trustee of the WaMu Trust as successor to BOA. (CP 113-115, ¶14-16; CP 246.) Suit continued to be prosecuted in BOA's name in its representative capacity. Judgment was rendered for BOA not as the party in interest, but as representative of the entity in interest.

CR 25(c) specifically allows the action to continue in the original Plaintiff's name *unless* the Court directs substitution "upon motion." Although Mr. Short mentioned to the trial court that Plaintiff had a new Trustee, he never moved for substitution as required by CR 25(c). No substitution motion having been filed here, the trial court cannot be held to have abused its discretion by allowing the action to continue in the name of the former Trustee, BOA, as permitted by CR 25(c). As previously established, Chase as the servicer for the WaMu Trust had authority to foreclose.

To the extent Mr. Short argues that the successor Trustee USBank should have obtained judgment in its name, the error, if any, is harmless.

The WaMu Trust continues to hold the interest that it always has held and the successor Trustee can establish its interest through public records at the point when the WaMu Trust must enforce its judgment and take possession of the subject property.

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